THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Case No.: 2015-000810

RECEIVED

FEB 29 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Paula Y. Tucker.....Appellant,

v.

SC Department of Mental Health,
and State Accident Fund.....Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF
OF APPELLANT**

Frank A. Barton, Esquire
ATTORNEY AT LAW, P.A.
Post Office Box 3972
West Columbia, South Carolina 29170
803-739-1824 / fax 803-739-1888

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in finding and concluding the Appellant had reached Maximum Medical Improvement for all injuries as of the hearing date of September 30, 2013?
2. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in finding and concluding the Appellant was not entitled to any additional medical treatment?
3. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in awarding benefits for permanent loss of use when the Appellant had not reached maximum medical improvement?
4. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in finding and concluding the Appellant had received appropriate medical treatment through the Employer?
5. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in finding and concluding the Appellant had suffered injuries only to her back, neck, and left shoulder?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal involves claims for two separate Workers Compensation accidents which were consolidated for hearing before the Workers Compensation Commission. By Form 50 filed by the Claimant-Appellant Paula Tucker dated July 8, 2013, with WCC file number 1122060, the Appellant filed a claim for an accident which occurred on April 5, 2011, resulting in injuries to her left arm, left shoulder, left elbow, left wrist, left hand, back, right leg, right hip, right thigh, shin, and right foot. By Form 50 of the Claimant dated July 10, 2013, with WCC file number 1308013, Appellant filed a claim for a second accident which occurred on June 16, 2013, which resulted in injuries to her back, neck, right leg, right arm, left leg, left arm, both shoulders, and an aggravation of the prior injuries to her back, neck, right hip, and left shoulder. In both claims, the Employer Department of Mental Health denied she had suffered any injury, denied she was entitled to any medical treatment, and denied she was entitled to any compensation benefits.

The two claims were consolidated for a hearing held before the Hearing Commissioner on September 30, 2013. By Decision and Order issued on May 14, 2014, the Hearing Commissioner determined the Claimant was entitled to some of the relief requested, but ruled Claimant had reached maximum medical improvement, and provided an award for some permanent impairment, and ruled the Claimant was not entitled to any additional disability or medical benefits. Pursuant to Claimant's Form 30 of May 28, 2014, an Appellate Panel was held on September 15, 2014. By Appellate Panel Decision and Order issued on March 23, 2015, the Workers Compensation Commission affirmed the decision of the Hearing Commissioner. Thereafter, the Notice of Appeal of the

Claimant/Appellant was filed with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on April 20, 2015.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In April of 2011 the Claimant/Appellant Paula Tucker worked as a mental health assistant for the SC Department of Mental Health providing assistance to live-in patients with mental disabilities. (R. p. 299, line 3-24). On April 5, 2011, the Appellant slipped on a bar of soap dropped on the floor by a patient and sustained injuries to her back, neck, left shoulder, left arm, right leg, and right hip. The accident was reported to her supervisor that same day, but no first report of injury was filed and the Employer, Department of Mental Health, did not authorize Ms. Tucker to receive any medical treatment. After a complaint to her Executive Director, Ms. Tucker was finally authorized to go to Doctor's Care on July 14, 2012, over a year after her accident had occurred and was reported. (R. p.302, line 6-9).

Doctor's Care, as the medical provider authorized by the Employer, diagnosed the Appellant as having suffered a cervical strain, injury to her left shoulder, and sciatica. (R. p. 69). Because of her injuries this authorized medical provider placed significant work restrictions on Appellant including no lifting more than five pounds; no driving; no climbing; no repetitive bending, stooping, squatting, or pushing; no continuous standing or sitting; and no overhead lifting. She was also given a return appointment for reevaluation at Doctor's Care for July 24, 2012. (R. p.7).

Despite the diagnosis and recommendations by Doctor's Care, Ms. Tucker was denied further medical treatment and was not allowed to return for the second visit

scheduled by Doctor's Care. (R. p. 303, line 14-15). Additionally, the work restrictions placed upon the Appellant by Doctor's Care were ignored and Ms. Tucker was required to continue with her normal work duties which were not within her restrictions. (R. p. 304, line 1-7). Despite suffering pain from her injuries Ms. Tucker continued to perform her regular duties for approximately the next year. She worked in pain as her supervisor constantly threatened to move her to the third shift. These threats were documented in a letter written by the supervisor in January of 2013. (R. p. 130). Ms. Tucker continued to work despite her pain because she could not move to the third shift. She had two children at home, one six years of age and one fourteen, and could not leave them at home alone overnight. (R. p. 305, line 7-9).

On June 16, 2013, while attempting to perform the duties outside of the job restrictions placed upon her by Doctor's Care, Ms. Tucker sustained a second compensable accident. At that time she was bending down to lift heavy pans when she felt excruciating pain and slipped and fell. (R. p. 306, line 1-8). The second injury aggravated her preexisting injuries, but also injured her left side, back, right leg, right side, and left leg. (R. p. 308, line 10-15). After this accident the Employer did authorize her to return to Doctor's Care where she was seen on June 21, 2013. She was diagnosed as having injured her lower back with radiating symptoms into her right leg. Doctor's Care directed her to remain out of work until she saw an orthopedic and Doctor's Care recommended that she receive an orthopedic referral "ASAP". (R. p. 238-240).

She did not return to work after the second accident. (R. p. 309, line 11-15). Employer never authorized her to see an orthopedic. (R. p. 309, line 8-10).

The uncontroverted evidence of record shows Ms. Tucker suffered a slip and fall accident on April 5, 2011. Although she reported the accident to her supervisor, the accident was never properly documented and Ms. Tucker was not allowed to see a doctor until she was seen at Doctor's Care on July 14, 2012. This medical provider authorized by the Employer noted the injuries sustained by Ms. Tucker as a result of her on the job fall, placed substantial work restrictions on her, and scheduled her to return in two weeks. Despite the recommendations of the authorized treating medical provider, the Employer disregarded the restrictions and did not allow her to return to Doctor's Care.

It should be noted Ms. Tucker did seek medical treatment on her own as a result of Employer's refusal to provide medical treatment. After her first accident she went to the emergency room at Kershaw Health Medical Center on October 28, 2011. The pain in her right hip and leg was noted and she was prescribed Hydrocodone and Prednisone for her injuries. (R. p. 65). She was also seen by her internist, Dr. Balogun, from January 2013, through April 2013. (R. p. 83-106). The reports of Dr. Balogun document her injuries and complaints. She was also seen at Palmetto Health Pain Management and Rehabilitation Center by Dr. Stephen Storick in July of 2013. Dr. Storick noted she was continuing to have significant neck pain, pain in her left shoulder and arm, and low back pain continuing through her legs. He prescribed physical therapy and gave her an epidural steroid injection without much improvement. (R. p. 120). Dr. Storick deferred to a spine surgeon to determine whether or not she may require surgery. It is important to note no doctor placed Ms. Tucker at maximum medical improvement and her treatment through her doctors was continuing at the time of the hearing on September 30, 2013. She was never seen by an orthopedic.

At the time of the hearing before the Hearing Commissioner on September 30, 2013, Ms. Tucker was continuing with medical treatment for her injuries. She had been unable to return to work since her second accident of June 16, 2013. To be clear, the Doctor's Care, the medical provider authorized to see Ms. Tucker by Employer after both accidents determined she had suffered injury, recommended additional treatment, and placed work restrictions upon her. After the second accident the providers at Doctor's Care directed that she not return to work until she was seen by an orthopedic. This recommended treatment was never authorized by the Employer. No medical records were submitted to indicate Ms. Tucker had completed medical treatment. Furthermore, no medical records were submitted as evidence to indicate Ms. Tucker had reached maximum medical improvement for her injuries. At the hearing Ms. Tucker requested payment of temporary total disability benefits from the time of her second accident. She also requested that the Employer be directed to provide her with necessary medical care.

Despite the evidence set forth above the Hearing Commissioner determined Ms. Tucker had suffered a compensable injury to only her neck, low back, and left shoulder as a result of the April 5, 2011 accident. The Commissioner went on to find Ms. Tucker had received medical treatment at the direction of the Employer and did not have any permanent disability from those injuries. The Hearing Commissioner then found Ms. Tucker suffered a second compensable on the job injury to only her neck, lower back and left shoulder in the second accident of June 16, 2013. The Commissioner found this accident also aggravated her preexisting back and left shoulder condition from the first injury. The Commissioner concluded Ms. Tucker had reached maximum medical improvement as of the date of the hearing of September 30, 2013, and awarded loss of

use for Appellant's spine and left shoulder. The Commissioner also found the Appellant was not in need of any additional medical treatment. These findings were fully affirmed by the Full Panel. (R. p. 1). Ms. Tucker, the Appellant, respectfully submits the Commission was in error in reaching these findings and conclusions.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act governs judicial review of a decision of the workers’ compensation commission.” Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 134, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1982); Bass v. Isochem, 365 S.C. 454, 467, 617 S.E.2d 369, (Ct. App. 2005) cert. dismissed as improvidently granted Aug. 2007; Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co., 360 S.C. 276, 288, 599 S.E.2d 604, 610 (Ct. App. 2004). Pursuant to the APA, an appellate Court’s review is limited to deciding whether the Appellate Panel’s decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law. Grant v. Grant Textiles, 372 S.C. 196, 200, 641 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2007); S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380(A)(5)(Supp. 2006).

The judicial review of the Appellate Panel’s factual findings is governed by the substantial evidence standard. Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 221, 628 S.E.2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2006); Frame v. Resort Servs., Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 527, 593 S.E.2d 491, 494 (Ct. App. 2004); Corbin v. Kohler Co., 351 S.C. 613, 617, 571 S.E.2d 92, 94-95 (Ct. App. 2002); Lockridge v. Santens of America, Inc., 344 S.C. 511, 515, 544 S.E.2d 842, 844 (Ct. App. 2001). The Appellate Panel’s decision must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence in the record. Shuler v. Gregory Elec., 366 S.C. 435, 440, 622 S.E.2d 569, 571 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc., 366 S.C. 154, 160, 519 S.E.2d 102, 105 (1999)). A reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380(A)(5)(d)(e)(Supp. 2006), see, also, Hall v. United Rentals, Inc., 371 S.C. 69, 77, 636 S.E.2d 876, 881, (Ct. App. 2006). However, a reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of the Appellate Panel if the findings, inferences,

conclusions, or decisions of them are “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record.” S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-

380(A)(5)(e)(Supp. 2006); Bass v. Kenco Group, 366 S.C. 450, 457, 622 S.E.2d 577, 580 (Ct. App. 2005); Burse v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 360 S.C. 135, 141, 600 S.E.2d 80, 84 (Ct. App. 2004) aff’d, 369 S.C. 176, 631 S.E.2d 899 (2006).

ARGUMENT I

THE WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED IN CONCLUDING THE APPELLANT, WAS NOT IN NEED OF ADDITIONAL MEDICAL TREATMENT AND IN CONCLUDING SHE HAD REACHED MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT AND MAKING AN AWARD FOR PERMANENT LOSS OF USE. (ISSUES 1 THROUGH 5)

Based on the testimony and medical records submitted by the parties, the Commission had no choice but to conclude, as it did, the Appellant Ms. Tucker suffered compensable injuries as a result of both of her on the job accidents. The evidence further required the Commission to conclude, as it did, the Appellant was entitled to temporary total disability benefits from the time of the second accident through the time of the hearing. It is respectfully submitted, however, the Commission was in error in finding and concluding Ms. Tucker had reached maximum medical improvement for her injuries, was not entitled to additional temporary total disability benefits, and was not entitled to additional medical treatment.

The purpose of the Workers' Compensation Act is to provide for medical care and disability benefits to workers injured while at work. Under the Workers' Compensation Act, an Employer is responsible for the costs of all casually related medical treatment required to an injured employee. SC Code Section 42-15-60; Dodge v. Bruccoli Clark Laymon, Inc., 334 S.C. 574, 514 S.E.2d 593 (Ct. App. 1999); Hall v. United Rentals, Inc., 371 SC 69, 636 S.E.2d 876 (Ct. App. 2006). Doctor's Care, the only medical provider authorized by Employer clearly directed Appellant was in need of additional medical care. On her very first visit for the first accident, substantial work restrictions were placed upon her and she was scheduled to return in two weeks. The Employer never allowed her to return. Employer allowed her to return to Doctor's Care shortly after the second accident. This time Doctor's Care directed that she not return to work and that she should see an orthopedist "ASAP". Again Employer denied this recommended treatment.

The medical evidence submitted for the first accident evidenced and detailed injuries to Ms. Tucker's back, left arm, left shoulder, both hips, and right leg. (R. p. 83-89). Medical records for the second accident evidenced and detailed injuries to Appellant's entire back, both shoulders, and both legs. Although Appellant was treated for pain management by Dr. Storick, Dr. Storick stated it would be up to a spine surgeon to determine if Appellant was in need of surgery. (R. p. 120). Appellant was never seen by an orthopedic as directed by Doctor's Care.

Ms. Tucker was continuing with treatment at the time of her Workers' Compensation hearing. She had not yet been seen by an orthopedic. She had no yet been seen by a spine surgeon. No medical report stated she had reached maximum medical

improvement for any of her workers' compensation injuries. It is respectfully submitted the substantial evidence of record did not support a finding Ms. Tucker had reached maximum medical improvement for her injuries. Furthermore, no doctor had provided any impairment rating for any of her injuries. Under these circumstances Appellant respectfully submits the findings of maximum medical improvement and the award of permanent loss of use for the spine and left shoulder by the Commission were premature and should be reversed. The Commission was also in error in failing to determine the Appellant suffered injuries to other body parts as detailed by her medical records.