THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

W.C.C. FILE NO. 1122060 & 1308013
APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000810

RECEIVED

FEB 23 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Paula Tucker.....Appellant,

vs.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH,
and STATE ACCIDENT FUND,,Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

PAGE P. SNYDER, ESQUIRE
S.C. BAR NO. 100239
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS
P.O. BOX 102100
COLUMBIA, SC 29210
(803) 896-5896

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission properly find that Appellant reached maximum medical improvement on September 30, 2013?
2. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission properly find that Appellant was not entitled to any additional medical treatment?
3. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission properly make an award pursuant to §42-9-30?
4. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission properly find that Appellant received appropriate medical treatment from the employer?
5. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission properly find that Appellant suffered permanent injuries solely to the back, neck and left shoulder?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 5, 2011, Appellant alleges she sustained an injury by accident arising out of and within the course and scope of her employment with the Respondent, S. C. Department of Mental Health. Appellant alleged she suffered injuries to the left arm, left shoulder, left wrist, left hand, back, right leg, right hip, right thigh, right shin and right foot pursuant to the Form 50 filed on July 8, 2013. This claim was denied by the Respondents. The Appellant alleged a second injury on June 16, 2013. Appellant alleged injuries to the back, neck, right leg, left arm, left leg, right arm, both shoulders and an aggravation of a pre-existing condition to the back, neck, right hip and left shoulder pursuant to the Form 50 filed on July 10, 2013. This claim was denied by the Respondents.

The two matters were consolidated for a hearing held before the single commissioner on September 30, 2013. The single commissioner issued an order on May 14, 2014. This Decision and Order found that the Appellant suffered a compensable injury on April 5, 2011 to the neck, back and left shoulder and determined the Appellant suffered no permanent disability. The commissioner found the June 16, 2013 accident compensable and determined that the Appellant was at maximum medical improvement and suffered ten percent (10%) permanent disability to her neck and low back and eight percent (8%) permanent disability to the left shoulder as a result of the June 13, 2013 accident pursuant to S.C. Code §§ 42-9-30(14)(1976, as amended) and S.C. Code §§ 42-9-30(31)(1976, as amended).

The May 14, 2014 Decision and Order was appealed by the Appellant by way of a timely filed Form 30. This matter was heard by the Appellate Panel on September 15,

2014. The Appellate Panel affirmed the Decision and Order on March 23, 2015. This matter was timely appealed by the Appellant to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant alleged she suffered an injury by accident within the course and scope of her employment with the Department of Mental Health on April 5, 2011. She alleged injuries to the left arm, left shoulder, neck, left wrist, left hand, back, right leg/hip, thigh knee, shin and foot when she slipped on a bar of soap in a patient's room. This injury was denied by the Respondent. The first record indicating that the Appellant sought medical treatment was over six months after her alleged accident. The record in this case indicates she was seen at Kershaw Health Medical Center on October 28, 2011. (R. pp. 156-169) On this date she presented at Kershaw Health Medical Center complaining of only the right hip, stating that the pain began "yesterday" and indicated it was not a result of any trauma. (R. p. 156) She did not complain of any of the body parts alleged to be injured in the April 5, 2011 work accident at this visit. She also did not relay any information about a work accident to the doctor seeing her for hip pain. Appellant was diagnosed with sciatica and advised to follow up with her primary care physician. (R. pp. 157 & 164) The medical records from this visit specifically indicate that Appellant began experiencing pain the day prior to the visit at Kershaw Health and that the Appellant had no recollection of any injury or trauma. (R. pp. 156, 159, 161 & 166) Had the Appellant been in pain as a result of the alleged work accident, Respondents argue that she would have mentioned this to the doctor at Kershaw Health Medical Center.

Upon filing of the 12A eight months after being seen by Kershaw Health Medical Center, the Respondent set up care for the Appellant with Doctors Care on July 14, 2012.

(R. p. 170) She presented at Doctors Care with complaints of pain to the neck, left arm, low back and right leg. (*Id.*) Appellant received prescriptions for medications and work restrictions from this medical appointment (R. pp. 17-18) Appellant was instructed to follow up in ten days. (*Id.*) Appellant did not follow up with Doctors Care, nor did she request for additional medical care from the Respondent Employer. There is no evidence in the record of any medical care received between October 28, 2011 and July 14, 2012.

Six months after her visit to Doctors Care, the Appellant began treatment under her private health insurance with Dr. Olajide Balogun on January 21, 2013. (R. pp. 172-188) There is no evidence in the record of any medical care received between July 14, 2012 and January 21, 2013. Appellant presented complaining of problems with her left arm, back and right leg, back pain and pain in both hips, and stated to the doctor that she wanted the work restrictions given by Doctors Care lifted so her shift would not be changed at work. (R. p. 172) Dr. Balogun ordered an MRI of the left shoulder on January 21, 2013; this was denied by the Respondents. (R. pp. 173-174) A review of the x-rays of the back showed Appellant suffered from degenerative disc disease. (R. p. 174) Dr. Balogun provided treatment which included physical therapy, a steroid injection, and prescription medications, and he also recommended that she lose weight throughout his course of treatment. (R. pp. 172-188) Appellant reported the injection did not provide any improvement for her shoulder pain (R. p. 200) MRIs of the Appellant's left shoulder and back were obtained on April 17, 2013. (R. p. 190) On April 18, 2013, Dr. Balogun reviewed the MRIs and concluded that the left shoulder MRI was consistent with tendinosis, with no evidence of a rotator cuff tear, and the lumbar MRI shoulder multilevel degenerative disc disease. (R. p. 181) Dr. Balogun further opined that the

Appellant was not a candidate for surgery based upon the MRI findings, recommended that she continue physical therapy, and referred her to a pain clinic. (R. p. 182)

Appellant underwent physical therapy from February 19, 2013 until May 8, 2013 with Kershaw Physical Therapy. Physical therapy discharged the Appellant from care as she had plateaued and she demonstrated inconsistent range of motion during her treatment with Kershaw Physical Therapy (R. pp. 109-116 & 186)

Appellant received pain management from Dr. Steven Storick from May 29, 2013 until August 6, 2013. (R. pp. 116A-120, 200-209) In his initial evaluation of the Appellant, Dr. Storick observed that she had "full range of motion of the hips with internal and external rotation non-painful. Deep compression of the hip bursae nontender" (R. p. 116F) He further reported that she had "[n]ormal range of motion in the neck and low back in flexion and extension." (R. p. 116G) Dr. Storick provided cervical epidural steroid injections on May 30, 2013 and July 22, 2013. (R. pp. 116I & 119) At her last appointment with Dr. Storick on August 6, 2013 he opined, "[e]xtensive workup has only noted mild age-appropriate degenerative changes." (Claimant's R. p. 120) He reviews the extensive workup and noted that nerve studies showed no evidence of radiculopathy, and that Appellant underwent physical therapy and epidural steroid injections with minimum improvement. (*Id.*) He referenced that the MRI of the shoulder showed tendinosis but no full thickness tear. (*Id.*) He opines he has nothing else to offer her and that she should follow up with her primary care physician. (*Id.*) There is no referral to an orthopedist or a spine surgeon from Dr. Storick and no other care was recommended by Dr. Storick as he advised he had nothing else to offer the Appellant. (*Id.*)

Appellant alleged another worked injury on June 16, 2013, injuring and/or aggravating her left arm, left shoulder, neck, left wrist, left hand, back, right leg/hip, thigh, knee, shin and foot. She alleges an unwitnessed fall. She was seen at Palmetto Health Baptist on May 29, 2013. (R. pp. 191-199) Appellant was supposed to follow up with Palmetto Health Baptist on June 13, 2013 but she failed to attend this appointment (R. p. 199)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act establishes the standard of review for decisions by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 134-35, 276 S.E.2d 304, 307 (1981). An Appellate panel may reverse or modify the Workers' Compensation Commission's decision only if the Appellant's substantial rights have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, or substantial evidence on the whole record. *Thompson v. South Carolina Steel Erectors*, 369 S.C. 606, 632 S.E.2d 874 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006). Our Supreme Court has defined substantial evidence as evidence that, in viewing the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). "[T]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence." *Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 282 S.C. 430, 319 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1984). "Where there are conflicts in the evidence over a factual issue, the findings of the Appellate Panel are conclusive." *Langdale v. Harris Carpets*,

395 S.C. 194, 203, 717 S.E.2d 80, 85 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011) (See Stokes v. First Nat'l Bank, 306, S.C. 46, 50, 410 S.E.2d 248, 251 (1991)).

ARGUMENT

1. **THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE APPELLANT REACHED MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT, DID NOT NEED ADDITIONAL MEDICAL TREATMENT, RECEIVED APPROPRIATE MEDICAL TREATMENT FROM THE EMPLOYER AND SUFFERED INJURIES TO THE BACK, NECK AND LEFT SHOULDER.**

Appellant claims to have suffered significant injuries as a result of her work accidents occurring on April 11, 2011 and June 16, 2013; however, she did not seek any medical treatment for the first accident from the Respondent Employer until July 13, 2012 (R. p. 262). By failing to file the report with her Employer timely, the Respondent was unable to provide any medical treatment until the receipt of the 12A. The period of time between the alleged incident and Appellant's first request for medical treatment from the Respondent Employer was over fifteen months. The Statement of the Facts demonstrates inconsistent complaints of pain and requests for medical treatment. It shows that the Appellant did not seek medical treatment from the Respondent Employer again until July 8, 2013 and July 10, 2013 by way of Form 50s. It also demonstrates that the Appellant was seen by various medical providers, underwent multiple diagnostic studies, and received a variety of treatment modalities, none of which made any significant improvement in her pain, per the Appellant.

Appellant argues that she still needs to see an orthopedist. The referral to an orthopedist was made by Doctors Care on June 21, 2013 after her second work accident.

(R. p. 239) At that time, Appellant was in active treatment with Dr. Storick who did not and has not recommend an orthopedic evaluation.

Respondents argue that the single commissioner reviewed the medical evidence and testimony of the Appellant in reaching the conclusion that the Appellant had reached maximum medical improvement. The recommendation from Dr. Balogun to see a pain specialist was fulfilled, and the pain specialist opined that he had nothing else to offer the Appellant.

The Appellate Panel issued a full affirmation of the single commissioner's Decision and Order. Respondents contend that this affirmation should be upheld pursuant to *Langdale v. Harris Carpets* which states, "[t] final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the Appellate Panel and it is not the task of courts to weigh the evidence as found by the single commissioner." *Langdale v. Harris Carpets*, 395 S.C. 194, 203, 717 S.E.2d 80, 85 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011) (citing *DeBruhl v. Kershaw Cnty. Sherriff's Dep't*, 303 S.C. 20, 24, 397 S.E.2d 782, 785 (S.C. Ct App. 1990)).